Investments Services

Terms of Business



Table of Contents

1	Introducing Ourselves	3
2	Our Regulator	3
3	Communication	3
4	Purpose of these Terms	4
5	Representations and Warranties	4
6	Client Classification	5
7	Service Category	6
8	Client Assessment	8
9	Investment Products' Transactions and Instructions	9
10	Best Execution Policy	11
11	Client's Money and Assets	11
12	Investment Products' Reporting to Clients	12
13	Joint Investment Profiles	12
14	Conflicts of Interest	13
15	Prevention of Money Laundering and Combating the Funding Of Terrorism – Client Identification and Source of Funds	13
16	Risks	14
17	Client Review	16
18	Set-Off	16
19	Security	16
20	Complaints	16
21	Investor Compensation Scheme	17
22	Protection and Compensation Fund	18
23	Charges	18
24	Data Protection and Confidentiality	18
25	Amendment and Termination	19
26	Governing Law and Jurisdiction	19

1. Introducing Ourselves

- 1.1 These Terms of Business (the "Terms") together with the completed and signed Client Fact Find and other related documents, as necessary, together referred to as the "Agreement" regulate the relationship between the Client (also referred to as 'you' or 'your', which term also includes your legal representative and successors) and APS Bank plc (also referred to as 'the Bank' or 'us', 'we' and 'our') in respect of the investment services as set out in the Terms. These Terms of Business supersede the terms of any previous agreement(s), previously entered into with you and the Bank.
- 1.2 These Terms contain important information regarding your legal position and the way in which the Bank will provide investment services to you.
- 1.3 It is highly recommended that the contents of these Terms, and any document referred to herein, are read carefully. If there is anything that you do not understand, or wish to seek further clarification on, this should be discussed with an authorised investment official within the Bank.

2. Our Regulator

- 2.1 The Bank is licensed to act as an Investment Firm by the Malta Financial Services Authority (the "MFSA"), situated at Notabile Road, Attard BKR 3000, Malta, to provide investment services under the Investment Services Act, Cap. 370, Laws of Malta, (the "Act").
- 2.2 The Bank is also registered as a Tied Insurance Intermediary under the Insurance Distribution Act 2018. The Bank offers Class 1 Individual/Group life and 'With Profits' and Class 3 'Unit linked' long term Insurance Policies.
- 2.3 In providing these services, the Bank is bound by the Acts, any applicable regulations, bye-laws, licence conditions, guidelines, exchange requirements and other provisions or market practices (the "Rules"). In the event of conflict between these Terms and the Rules, the latter shall prevail.

3. Communication

3.1 The Bank's registered and business office, including contact information, is as follows:

APS Bank plc

APS Centre,

Tower Street,

Birkirkara, BKR 4012,

Malta

Telephone number: (+356) 2122 6644

Email: info@apsbank.com.mt

- 3.2 You will have the opportunity to communicate with the Bank either in Maltese or in English and you will receive a copy of these Terms in any one of the two languages mentioned above, according to your preference. The Bank will communicate with you in English.
- 3.3 The Bank may communicate with you by e-mail unless you instruct us otherwise. The Bank reserves the right to monitor or access any or all emails sent to it. Should you opt for e-mail communication, you will be requested to sign the 'Email Indemnity Form'.

4. Purpose of These Terms

- 4.1 These Terms cover the provision by the Bank of the following services:
 - a) Reception and Transmission of orders;
 - b) Execution of orders;
 - c) Nominee Services;
 - d) Non-Independent Investment Advice; and
 - e) Tied Insurance Intermediary Services. (hereinafter the "Services" and each a "Service")

5. Representations and Warranties

- 5.1 You represent and warrant to the Bank that:
 - a) You have the necessary consent/authority to enter into this Agreement, and in the case of a body corporate, the representative parties subject to Terms are duly authorised to represent the body corporate, in accordance with its constitutional documents:
 - Any information which you have provided or may provide to us is complete, accurate and up-to-date in all respects;
 - c) In case of legal persons, you have or will provide the Bank with the Legal Entity Identifier ("LEI"), to allow the bank to comply with its reporting obligations at law: and
 - d) You are, and shall remain, at all times in compliance with any applicable law including Maltese tax laws and regulations.
- 5.2 You further represent and warrant to the Bank that you are the beneficial owner (or an authorised representative thereof) of any investment and cash subject to these Terms and will indemnify the Bank against all claims or demands made by any person in relation thereto.

- 5.3 You confirm that whenever you instruct the Bank to buy, sell, or hold investments:
 - a) you have not, and will not, without the Bank's prior written agreement, give
 a charge, hypothec, pledge or create any security interest whatsoever over
 such instruments to any person other than the Bank;
 - b) you shall not, without the Bank's prior written agreement, sell, dispose of, deal with or give anyone else any rights over the investments while they are held by the Bank as nominee holder.
- 5.4 By agreeing to these Terms, you are authorising the Bank to deduct or withhold any sum, which the Bank is required or liable to deduct or withhold under the law or practice of any revenue authority in any relevant jurisdiction.

6. Client Classification

- 6.1 The Bank is required to categorise Clients into one of the following three categories:
 - a) Retail Client;
 - b) Professional Client; or
 - c) Eligible Counterparty.
- 6.2 The level of protection offered and due to you depends on the category to which you are assigned. The category named Retail Clients benefit from the highest degree of protection. The Bank treats all of its clients as 'Retail Clients', thus offering the highest protection possible. However if you possess sufficient experience, knowledge and expertise that enable you to make investment decisions and properly assess the risks associated, you may, if you so request, be treated as a 'Professional Client'. Such a request is subject to a 'Professional Client Test' and your classification will be identified and recorded in your profile. If there is a change in your classification, the Bank shall inform you accordingly.
- 6.3 You may request, in writing, for the Bank to change the category in which you have been classified this will have an effect on the level of protection afforded to you. The Bank may choose to accept or refuse any such request at its discretion.
- 6.4 The Bank is entitled to rely upon information you have provided it with. You agree to advise the Bank, in writing, of any material changes in the information provided to it. If you provide the Bank with inaccurate information, or if you fail to notify the Bank of any changes to information previously supplied, this may negatively affect the quality of the services that we provide.

7. Service Category

The Services offered by the Bank will be provided in accordance with one of the following service categories:

7.1 Execution Only Service:

Execution Only Service relates to where we execute or arrange transactions on your instructions in circumstances where we have not advised you on that transaction:

- a) The Bank is allowed to offer this service category when the service is provided at the initiative of the client and the service relates to any of the following financial instruments:
 - shares admitted to trading on a regulated market or an equivalent third country market or on a Multilateral Trading Facility ("MTF");
 - bonds or other forms of securitised debt admitted to trading on a regulated market or on an equivalent third country market or on a MTF, excluding those that embed a derivative or incorporate a structure which makes it difficult for the client to understand the risks involved;
 - iii) money-market instruments, excluding those that embed a derivative or incorporate a structure which makes it difficult for the client to understand the risks involved:
 - iv) shares or units in Undertakings for the Collective Investment for Transferable Securities ("UCITS"), excluding structured UCITS;
 - v) structured deposits, excluding those that embed a derivative or incorporate a structure which makes it difficult for the client to understand the risks involved; and
 - vi) other non-complex financial instruments (including Insurance-Based Investment Products).
- b) In the case of Execution Only Services, we are not required to assess the appropriateness of the financial instrument for you and therefore will be under no duty to monitor, review, or advise you on any investment made. You will not benefit from the corresponding protection of the relevant conduct of business rules. We will keep records of transactions undertaken on your behalf and will promptly provide you with the essential information concerning the execution of that order in accordance with the Rules (in a durable medium).
- c) The Bank will follow conflicts of interest procedures as outlined in section 14.

7.2 Non-independent Investment Advice

Non-independent advice is advice based on a more restricted analysis of a narrower range of relevant products available on the market than in the case where a firm provides independent advice. These may include entities having a close economic or legal link with APS Bank plc. We do not provide independent investment advice.

- a) When providing you with non-independent investment advice, our authorised investment advisor will provide you with a personal recommendation which is considered to be in line with your knowledge and experience, financial situation, including your ability to bear losses, and investment objectives including risk tolerance. The non-independent investment advice provided by the Bank is based on a fair, personal and restricted analysis of different types of products.
- b) This service is designed for clients who intend to make their own investment decisions but require advice regarding the structure of their account and on individual investments. The Bank will be responsible for advising you on the composition and structure of your account, taking into account your investment objectives, risk profile and investment restrictions. The Bank will make personal recommendations to you, however any transaction will only be made on your instructions.
- c) The Bank will provide you with a detailed explanation on the range of products (whitelist) and their providers, including details on the relationship the Bank has with them. A more comprehensive whitelist will be made available for higher investible amounts.
- d) The non-independent personal recommendation will be provided to you in a durable medium and will outline the advice being given and how it is considered to be suitable for you, including how it shall meet your investment objectives, knowledge and experience, and risk appetite.

7.3 Nominee Services

a) With the sole exception of any holdings in the sub-funds of APS Funds SICAV plc and insurance products, unless you instruct otherwise, the Bank will hold investments as nominee for and on your behalf. The Bank recognises that you are the beneficial owner of such investments and will therefore not in any way make use of such investments, other than as lawfully directed and with your prior written authorisation. The Bank offers this service in order to expedite and facilitate acquisitions and/or subscriptions to instruments and consequently you should

note that in the event that you opt out of this service, the order may take longer to process. In the event that you opt out of this service, you will be responsible for the custody arrangements and the Bank will accept no liability for the negligence or other default of the third party nominee or custodian.

- b) You represent and warrant that you are and shall remain at all times the ultimate beneficial owner of any instruments held by the Bank as your nominee, that you shall not act as nominee or trustee for any other person and shall not transfer, assign, pledge, charge or otherwise create any security interest whatsoever over such instruments without the prior written consent of the Bank.
- c) The Shareholders Right Directive 2007/36/EC, as amended in 2017 and transposed in the domestic Listing Rules, provides facilitation of the exercise of shareholder rights in terms of right to participate and vote in general meetings. The Client, by default will not participate and vote in general meetings however, the Client may at any time instruct the Bank such that he/she may participate and vote in general meetings, subject to a fee.

8. Client Assessment

8.1 Appropriateness Test

- a) In the course of provision of a Service other than investment advice, the Bank shall, where applicable, conduct an appropriateness test in order to determine whether you have the necessary knowledge and experience in the investment field to understand the risks involved in the specific type of product or service offered or demanded. This is particularly applicable when providing nonadvisory investment services.
- b) Where the Bank considers, on the basis of the information you provided that you do not possess the knowledge and experience to take on the risks associated with an investment in the proposed product, the Bank shall issue a warning to you. Such a warning shall be issued in writing by the Bank and you shall be required to acknowledge the same in writing.
- c) Where the Bank does not manage to obtain sufficient information to assess the appropriateness of the product, the Bank shall warn you that it is not in a position to assess appropriateness. Such a warning shall be issued in writing by the Bank and you shall be required to acknowledged the same in writing.

8.2 Suitability Test

a) In the course of providing investment advice, the Bank is required to conduct a suitability test in order to determine that:

- i) the product to be subsequently recommended to you meets your investment objectives including your risk tolerance;
- ii) the product to be subsequently recommended to you supports your financial situation, including the ability to bear losses, which may arise from the risk profile of the product; and
- iii) you have the necessary knowledge and experience to understand the risks involved.
- iv) the product to be subsequently recommended to you meets your sustainability preferences.
- b) Where you have been categorised as a Professional Client, the Bank is only required to ensure that the product requested meets your investment objectives
- c) The purpose of the 'Suitability Test', is to help the Bank to act in your best interest. Thus, in order to be in a position to evaluate the suitability of a product, you agree to provide the Bank with all the necessary information regarding your investment objectives, financial situation, knowledge and experience and sustainability preferences in relation to specific investment products. You shall furnish the Bank with information that is up-to-date, accurate and complete.
- d) Where the Bank does not manage to obtain sufficient information to assess the suitability of an investment exposure for you, the Bank shall refrain from providing such service.

8.3 Customer's Insurance Demands and Needs

Prior to the conclusion of an insurance contract, the Bank as an Insurance Distributor shall specify, on the basis of the information obtained from you, your demands and needs and will provide you with objective information about the insurance products to allow you to make an informed decision. For insurance products, the above mentioned Appropriateness or Suitability Assessments shall apply according to the service which you require.

9. Investment Products' Transactions and Instructions

- 9.1 You acknowledge that an investment transaction facilitated by the Bank is not deemed to be a loan and your money and / or assets have not been given on the sole condition of returning as much of the same kind and quality.
- 9.2 You may give instructions to undertake transactions in writing. Transactions, orders or queries will be effected in a prompt and timely manner and to the extent possible, in the order in which they were received.

- 9.3 In giving instructions to the Bank, you are authorising the Bank to draw up an order confirmation form based on the communicated transaction.
- 9.4 You agree to indemnify the Bank against all actions, proceedings or claims which may be incurred or sustained from the execution of the order/s taken, including where the order is received by e-mail and irrespective of whether the official confirmation order relevant to that transaction was signed or otherwise by you.
- 9.5 The Bank shall send you a contract note or confirmation in respect of each trade effected on your behalf, by the first working day following execution, or by the first working day after the Bank receives confirmation from the third party that has executed the transaction.
- 9.6 You agree to review each contract note or confirmation received and to notify the Bank of any errors, omissions or objections within fifteen (15) days from the date of the contract note or confirmation. Following the lapse of fifteen (15) days from the date of the contract note or confirmation, the Bank shall treat any entries or balances therein as final, conclusive and binding.
- 9.7 You agree that payments made for any transactions are to be settled within the period stipulated in the contract note or relevant documentation, or as soon as received from a third party, as applicable. Any failure to meet these obligations within the allowed time frame shall not be borne as a liability by the Bank. In this regard, please see the sections entitled "Set-off" and "Security".
- 9.8 You have the right to send a written request for a copy of all relevant documentation relating to your investments. These records are retained by the Bank according to the respective retention periods as stipulated by the Rules.
- 9.9 The Bank may combine your order(s) with order(s) of other client(s) provided that such aggregation does not operate to your disadvantage. Aggregation of orders, is carried out in accordance with the Bank's Aggregation and Allocation Policy.
- 9.10 You agree that the Bank may, record any telephone communications between you and the Bank. A copy of these records is kept as per the applicable Rules and will be available on request for a period of five years, and for seven years if requested by the MFSA.
- 9.11 The Bank shall not incur any liability whatsoever when acting on any your instructions or for any error in such your instructions and you agree to indemnify and hold us harmless from any loss, cost, damage or expense we may suffer or incur by relying on your instructions, whether received by letter, telephone, facsimile or other electronic transmission (including electronic mail) or in such

other manner as the Bank may determine from time to time, and which the Bank, in its absolute discretion, has reason to believe to be genuine.

9.12 You understand that the Bank shall not be held liable as a result of any change in market conditions between the date of your instructions and the execution thereof by the Bank.

10. Best Execution Policy

- 10.1 Subject to any specific instructions you provide us with, when executing client orders, the Bank will take all sufficient steps to obtain the best possible results for you. The best possible results will be determined in terms of total consideration, that is, the price of the instrument and the costs related to execution which shall include all expenses incurred by the client that are directly related to the execution of the order.
- 10.2 Other best execution factors such as speed of execution, likelihood of execution and settlement, size, nature or any other considerations relevant to the execution of a particular order are also applied by the Bank in order to obtain the best possible results for you.
- 10.3 The Bank's Best Execution Policy is available online on the Bank's website in the following link: apsbank.com.mt/document-downloads, under the 'MiFID II (Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II)' section, or may be provided in a durable medium upon request. The Bank strongly advices you to read through the Best Execution Policy prior to the execution of this agreement.

11. Client's Money and Assets

- 11.1 Any money that the Bank holds you will only be held by the Bank in its capacity as Banker. Your money will be held in one or more accounts in your name and will be treated in the same way as any money deposited with the Bank.
- 11.2 Unless in accordance with client instructions and unless appropriately indemnified, the Bank shall have no duty or responsibility as regards voting in respect of any investments held by the Bank as nominee, as regards any subscription, conversion or other rights in respect thereof or as regards any merger, consolidation, reorganisation, receivership, bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, compromise or arrangement or the deposit of any instruments in connection therewith or otherwise, or as regards any take-over bids, issuer bids, rights offerings or similar events, nor shall the Bank be under any duty to investigate or participate therein or take any affirmative action in connection therewith.

12. Investment Products' Reporting to Clients

- 12.1 The Bank shall, at least every quarter, send you a statement of your portfolio and the activities undertaken during the reporting period. This statement shall be made available to you in a durable medium.
- 12.2 You agree to promptly examine all statements and valuations received from the Bank and each entry and balance recorded therein and to notify the Bank of any errors, omissions or objections to any entries and balances in such statements or valuations, within thirty (30) days from each statement or valuation date, failing which the Bank shall be entitled to treat such statements and valuations and any entries and balances therein as final, conclusive and binding.

13. Joint Investment Profiles

- 13.1 If your investments are held jointly with another person, the obligations of each of the joint holders, under the Agreement, shall be joint and several, that is, each of you shall be individually and jointly liable to us.
- 13.2 Unless the Bank receives notice in writing to the contrary from any one of the joint investment holders, the Bank is authorised to communicate with and act on instructions received from any one of the joint investment holders and the Bank shall have authority to act on any such client instructions, without notice to any one of the other joint investment holders.
- 13.3 The Bank is authorised to send notices, confirmations, statements and communications of any kind to any one of the joint investment holders and service of any demand, notice, confirmation, statement or any other communication of any kind shall be deemed to have been duly served on all joint investment holders if served on any one joint investment holder, to the most recent address as appears on the records of the Bank.
- 13.4 In the event of the death of one of the joint investment holders, the surviving joint investment holders agrees to immediately provide the Bank with written notice thereof. The death of any joint investment holder will affect the rights and obligations of the surviving joint investment holders which will be governed by the Civil Code (Chapter 16) of the Laws of Malta. The Bank is authorised, prior to or after receipt of written notice of the death of one of the joint investment holders, to take such steps or require such documentation or restrict trades or transactions relating to the joint investment profile as the Bank may deem prudent or advisable, at its absolute discretion.
- 13.5 The estate of any deceased joint investment holder shall continue to be liable to the Bank jointly and severally for any indebtedness or other liabilities in connection with the joint investment profile.

14. Conflicts of Interest

- 14.1 The Bank declares that it has in place adequate internal policies and procedures to ensure that you shall, in all cases, be treated fairly and that the risk of damage to your interests will be prevented.
- 14.2 The Bank undertakes to bring to your attention, any present and expected conflicts of interest with regard to products/services promoted by the Bank. In the provision of its services, the Bank will seek to ensure that it always acts in your best interests.
- 14.3 The Bank declares its interest in APS Funds SICAV plc and its sub-funds, a collective investment scheme managed by ReAPS Asset Management Ltd, a subsidiary fully owned by the Bank.
- 14.4 The Bank declares that it is the distributor of IVALIFE Insurance Ltd, and that it has a direct shareholding of more than 10% in IVALIFE Insurance Ltd.
- 14.5 A summary of the Bank's Conflicts of Interest Policy is available online on the Bank's website in the following link: apsbank.com.mt/document-downloads under the 'MiFID II (Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II)' section, or may be provided in a durable medium upon request. The Bank strongly advices you to read through the Conflicts of Interest Policy prior to the execution of this agreement.

Prevention of Money Laundering and Combating the Funding of Terrorism - Client identification and Source of Funds

- 15.1 The Bank is subject to the Prevention of Money Laundering and Combating the Funding of Terrorism laws and regulations in force in Malta from time to time. The obligations under the laws and regulations include:
 - a) the identification and verification of identity of clients,
 - b) having in place policies and procedures on Anti-Money Laundering and Combating the Funding of Terrorism,
 - c) carrying out Customer Due Diligence on Clients,
 - d) the retention of the relevant identification and transaction documentation, and
 - e) the reporting to the Financial Intelligence Analysis Unit of Malta of transactions whenever there is knowledge, suspicion or reasonable grounds to suspect that Money Laundering and/or Funding of Terrorism is or may be involved.
- 15.2 The Bank has therefore established appropriate internal procedures to fulfil these obligations which it monitors and updates on a regular basis.

- 15.3 You are required to produce satisfactory evidence of identity, the source of wealth and the source of funds to be invested, and will be required to provide the Bank with such documentation as part of the evidence being produced.
- 15.4 You represent and warrant that the monies and investments that form part of your portfolio for investment and any future additions thereto have not originated and will not originate from activities or transactions which are a criminal offence in Malta or which, if carried out in Malta, would constitute such an offence or comprise property, the receipt, ownership or control of which would be considered as such an offence.

16. Risks

16.1 Investment Risk

- a) The price of all investments may go down as well as up. An investor may not get back the full amount invested and selling an investment in an inappropriate moment may result in a loss.
- b) Past performance is not indicative of future performance. Investment markets are volatile in nature and it is important that any investment is viewed as long term in nature.

16.2 Currency Risk

An investment may have a base currency, or be directly or indirectly exposed to different currencies, that are different to the Client's domestic currency and thus carries an element of currency risk which can affect the value of any investment and the income generated therefrom, including interest or dividend payments, positively or negatively. In addition, upon the sale or maturity of your investment, the realisable value might be less than the initial outlay when exchanged in your domestic currency.

16.3 Credit Risk

An issuer of a debt instrument such as a bond may be unable to meet interest and/or principal payments in the future and consequently default on its principal and interest repayments. The longer the term to maturity (repayment of principal), the greater the credit risk. Credit Risk is also assessed on the basis of the credit rating assigned to the particular investment instrument, by official and world-renowned credit rating agencies.

16.4 Instruments Issued by Banks - Potential Write Down

The Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive provides applicable authorities with a set of tools which may be used when banks are judged to be failing or likely to fail. One of the available tools is referred to as Bail-In. In this scenario, subordinated and/or senior debt instruments (bonds which are not backed by assets or collateral) issued by such bank may be converted into shares and may suffer a partial or full write down of such debt instruments. This process is applied to stabilise a failing bank so that essential services can continue without the need for bail-out using public funds. Therefore investors in instruments issued by bank could be negatively impacted depending on the type of instrument held within an investment portfolio should the bank fail or be likely to fail. Holders of subordinated debt instruments will be impacted prior to investors holding senior debt instruments. Moreover, in a bail-in scenario, investors in unsecured debt instruments would be in a less favourable position than depositors who are protected by a deposit guarantee scheme – up to limits as may be specified in the Scheme's Regulations.

16.5 Interest Rate Risk

The market value of a bond or other debt instrument may go down as well as up as a result of a variation in interest rates or expectations.

16.6 Sustainability Risk

The value of an investment may go down as well as up as a result of an environmental, social or governance event or conditions.

The Bank as Advisor of financial products is to take into account the information which manufacturers of these products are required to disclose. This includes, how they integrate ESG risks into their investment decision making processes and the likely impacts on the financial products' returns. The Bank's Investment Distribution Unit is to engage with manufacturers of financial products to comprehend how they undertake the integration of the above. Furthermore, information provided by these manufacturers, as defined - environmental, social and employee matters, respect for human rights, anti-corruption matters, and anti-bribery, are to be integrated in the financial advice provided.

16.7 Other risks

a) Investments in certain assets may be subject to specific risks which may or may not effect a particular investment. These risks may include counterparty risk, liquidity risk, country risk and political risk. The exposure to these risks may change over the course of the investment period, and may affect the value of your investment. b) You acknowledge that the risks involved and related to an investment are various and the risks referred to in these Terms constitute a non-exhaustive list.

17. Client Review

- 17.1 The Bank will not provide you with a periodic assessment of the suitability of the investments initially recommended to you. However, the Bank strongly recommends that you set up periodical appointments with our investment advisor to consider changes in your personal circumstances, review the performance of investments held, and assess continued suitability.
- 17.2 During these review meetings, you should update the Bank with any material changes to your risk level and/or investment objective. Furthermore, during these review meetings, you and the Bank shall, where applicable, determine whether any of the investments have fallen outside your risk profile parameters and any resulting action arising therefrom.

18. Set-Off

- 18.1 If you have failed to pay us any amount you owe us under any agreement you have with us, we may, unless prohibited at law, use the money we owe you to reduce or repay the amount you owe us. This is called a "set off right".
- 18.2 We may use our set off right even if the amount you owe us is dependent on another event or has not yet become due, if we reasonably think you will be unable to pay us when the amount does become due.
- 18.3 We may use our set off right without telling you in advance if we reasonably think you will do something to prevent us from obtaining repayment by set off, or we have otherwise agreed with you that we can do so.

19. Security

- 19.1 As long as you owe us any money under this or any other agreement with us, we utilise your investments (including uninvested cash) in order to secure your indebtedness with us.
- 19.2 Where appropriate, we may require you to enter into a separate security agreement in relation to any such investments or cash that we require from you.

20. Complaints

Our feedback and complaint handling policy tells you how to give us your feedback and the timescales in which we will deal with it. You can find the policy on our website and send us your feedback in any of the following ways.

- Fill in our Feedback Form at apsbank.com.mt/feedback.
 - If there are any supporting documents you would like to add, the Feedback Form also allows you to add attachments.
 - Call our Customer Support Centre on (+356) 2122 6644 Monday to Sunday (including Public Holidays) from 08:00 to 21:00.
 - Speak to a representative in person at any of our branches.
 - Write to:

Voice of the Customer APS Bank plc APS Centre Tower Street Swatar, BKR 4012 Malta

- Email us at: voc@apsbank.com.mt
- 20.2 The Bank will investigate and, where appropriate and necessary, take immediate action to rectify the situation. All complaints will be acknowledged and you will be informed accordingly of the investigation's outcome.
- 20.3 In the event that you feel that a complaint has not been handled to your satisfaction after being dealt with by the Bank's internal complaint handling procedures, then you may subsequently refer your complaint to:

the Office of the Arbiter for Financial Services, 1st Floor St Calcedonius Square, Floriana FRN 1530, Malta.

The Office may also be contacted by using Freephone 80072366 or (+356) 2124 9245, or email on complaint.info@financialarbiter.org.mt. Further information can be found on financialarbiter.org.mt

21. Investor Compensation Scheme

- 21.1 The Bank is a member of the Investor Compensation Scheme in Malta. The Investor Compensation Scheme pays compensation, subject to certain limits, to eligible consumers if an authorised investment firm fails.
- 21.2 Further information may be obtained from: compensationschemes.org.mt

22. Protection and Compensation Fund

22.1 In relation to insurance products, if the company licensed to carry out insurance business in Malta, is unable to meet its obligations under the contract, the policy owner may be entitled to limited compensation under the Protection and Compensation Fund. The Protection and Compensation Fund is regulated by the Protection and Compensation Fund Regulations 2004 issued under the Insurance Business Act (Cap 403).

23. Charges

- 23.1 The Bank shall provide you with full disclosure of all applicable costs and charges, before and after we provide a service to you. Such charges may either be imposed by the Bank, and/or other parties where you have been directed to such other parties, for the services provided to you.
- 23.2 You agree to pay the Bank, on demand, its applicable commissions and other fees (including without limitation to the generality of the aforesaid, any performance and/ or incentive fees) due in respect of the provision by the Bank of any of the Services in accordance with the Bank's Tariff of Charges Investment Services Section, available online on the Bank's website on the following link apsbank.com.mt/tariff-of-charges. A copy of the Tariff of Charges may also be provided upon request.
- 23.3 The Bank undertakes that all receipts of commissions and other fees payable to the Bank shall be disclosed to you by means of a durable medium. Where the amount cannot be ascertained, the method of calculating the amount will be clearly disclosed prior to providing the service. The Bank shall, in so far as practicable, notify you of any proposed changes in commissions and other fees in a timely manner. The Bank as an authorised distributor of certain financial products, including third party UCITS funds, may be in receipt of trailer fees that may range from 0.1% and 0.5% calculated on the value of assets managed by the third party and held by the Bank on behalf of its Clients.
- 23.4 You also agree to pay the Bank, on demand, and in addition to its commissions and/or fees, any duty, VAT or other tax whatsoever arising in respect of any of the Services provided. If known to the Bank, you will be informed and given prior notice of the imposition of, or variation in, any duty, VAT or other tax arising in respect of any of the Services.

24. Data Protection and Confidentiality

24.1 The financial planning interview/process requires the client to disclose personal data to the Bank. The Bank will treat such personal data with utmost confidentiality as an integral part of the banker / customer relationship.

24.2 By signing below, the client acknowledges that he/she has read and accepted the Bank's Condensed Privacy Notice which is attached and marked as Annex A. Furthermore, for more information about how the Bank processes (including the disclosing) the personal data which you provide us with, kindly refer to the Bank's Data Privacy Policy, which is available online on the Bank's website on the following link apsbank.com.mt/gdpr and/or by requesting a paper copy.

25. Amendment and Termination

- 25.1 The Bank may amend any provision of this Agreement. Any changes which are deemed to be favourable to you, will be notified to you as soon as reasonably practicable following the change. If a proposed material change is not favourable to you, the Bank will notify you of such change 2 months in advance of such change coming into effect.
- 25.2 The Agreement is indefinite and may be terminated at any time by either party upon giving written notice to the other party not less than one month prior to the date on which such termination shall have effect.
- 25.3 However, the Bank shall have the right at all times to immediately terminate this Agreement by providing notice, if, in its opinion, it is required to do so in virtue of any provision of applicable law or if it deems that it cannot continue to provide the services without harm to itself, you or other clients.
- 25.4 Termination of this Agreement shall not imply the discharge by either party of the other from any obligations arising prior to termination, including your obligation to pay and/or reimburse the Bank for any consideration which may have become due to the Bank and/or any disbursements which may have been incurred by the Bank on your behalf at any time prior to termination.

26. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

26.1 The Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Maltese law and the parties hereto agree to submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the Maltese courts.

Annex A - Condensed Privacy Notice

We at APS Bank plc (C 2192) of APS Centre, Tower Street, Birkirkara, Malta, take every measure to ensure that your privacy is one of our topmost priorities. Please take the time to read through the below, which is applicable to you insofar as you are a data subject as understood by the EU General Data Protection Regulation (2016/679), briefly explaining how we process your personal data, before signing the above.

WHY WE NEED YOUR PERSONAL DATA - We need your personal data (the information you have provided to us when signing above that identifies you as an individual) to provide you with the requested investment services and for the purpose of fraud prevention and compliance with regulations and legislation to which we are subject. Therefore, in this case, our legal bases for processing the said personal data are necessity for the performance of a contract with you (or taking steps at your request prior to entering into such a contract) and our compliance with our legal obligations.

WHO WE SHARE YOUR PERSONAL DATA WITH - Your personal data will be made available to those people in the bank who need it to carry out their duties and provide you with the services you expect from us. We also share it with:

- Other entities within the APS group and/or any sub-contractors, agents or service
 providers we may have appointed who carry out services for us either now or in
 the future (including their employees, sub-contractors, service providers, agents,
 directors and officers);
- Any joint account holders, trustees, beneficiaries, administrators, attorneys appointed via a power of attorney, curators or executors;
- Other financial institutions, tax authorities, trade associations, credit reference agencies, payment service providers and debt recovery agents;
- Your beneficiaries, intermediaries, correspondent and agent banks;
- Law enforcement, government, courts, dispute resolution bodies, our regulators, auditors, advisors, consultants and any party appointed or requested by our regulators to carry out investigations or audits of our activities;
- The Central Bank of Malta to update the Central Credit Register maintained by it;
- Fraud prevention agencies who will also use it to detect and prevent fraud and other financial crime and to verify your identity;
- Anyone who provides instructions or operates any of your accounts, products or services on your behalf.

Your personal data will not be disclosed to any other persons besides those mentioned here unless we are required to do so by law.

FOR HOW LONG WILL WE KEEP YOUR PERSONAL DATA? - We will keep your personal data only for as long as necessary. Necessity depends on legal obligations we may have. We are also entitled to retain personal data in some cases (as opposed to being obliged to do so). Moreover, we are entitled to retain personal data in certain cases (as opposed to being obliged to do so). For example, when we believe that the personal data is necessary for us to defend ourselves against civil claims that may be brought against us, we are allowed to keep the data for as long as that risk subsists (usually five years from the end of our contractual relationship with you).

WHAT ARE YOUR DATA PROTECTION RIGHTS? - You, as a 'data subject' as understood under applicable data protection laws, have a number of rights that are applicable under certain conditions and in certain circumstances, including Your:

- Right of access to your personal data processed by us;
- Right to ask us to rectify inaccurate personal data concerning you;
- Right to have us erase your personal data ('right to be forgotten');
- Right to ask us to restrict (that is, store but not further process) Your personal data;
- Right to ask us to provide Your personal data to You in a structured, commonly
 used, machine-readable format, or (where technically feasible) to have it 'ported'
 directly to another data controller ('right to data portability')
- Right to withdraw any consent you may have given us at any time (not applicable
 in this particular case since we are not relying on your consent to process your
 personal data in this instance):
- Right to object to our processing your personal data (not applicable to the legal bases of necessity for performance of a contract and necessity for compliance with legal obligations);
- Right to lodge a complaint with the relevant supervisory authority.

WHERE CAN YOU READ OUR FULL PRIVACY POLICY? - This section represents a condensed explanation and brief reminder of how we use your personal data. For more information including more detail on your rights, we strongly recommend you read the Bank's user-friendly and layered full Data Privacy Policy, available here: www.apsbank.com.mt/en/gdpr, you can ask us for a paper copy of the full Data Privacy Policy at any time, by contacting us at DataProtectionOfficer@apsbank.com.mt

Approved and issued by APS Bank plc (C2192), APS Centre, Tower Street, B'Kara BKR 4012, Malta. APS Bank plc is regulated by the Malta Financial Services Authority to carry out Investment Services activities under the Investment Services Act 1994. APS Bank plc is also registered as a Tied Insurance Intermediary under the Insurance Distribution Act 2018.

TOBVR7: Issued in July 2023

Investment Services Terms of Business

between	
APS Bank plc (the "Bank")	
and	
Name of Client/s:	
ID Card Number:	
Signature/s	
Date: / /	